
MAYOR                      INTERIM  CITY MANAGER 

Brian West Michelle Owens 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Monty Parks Mayor pro tem Jan LeViner 

Bill Garbett  

Spec Hosti 
Tony Ploughe CITY ATTORNEY 

Nick Sears Edward M. Hughes 

Kathryn Williams Tracy O’Connell 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

May 09, 2024 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Announcements 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  
 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee island City Council 

1. Minutes:  April 25, 2024 with attachments 
 
City Manager Discussion and Action Items 
 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 4 minutes.   

2. Jim Klutz:  FY 2025 Budget 
 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda other than the Public Hearings, 
please approach the podium.  Please limit your comments to 4 minutes  
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
Public Hearings 

3. Site Plan Approval for the addition of a roof structure over an existing wood deck on the 
south side of the building 

4. First Reading:  2024-08 to Amend the Code of Ordinances so as to address the 
Expiration of Short Term Rental Permits in Connection with Transfers of 
Ownership Interests 

 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements, and Expenditures 

5. Agreement:  METRIC Group Limited and City of Tybee Island 
6. Memorandum of Agreement:  Visit Tybee and City of Tybee Island:  Info Hut 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

7. Indigent Defense Services Agreement:  Jennifer Ozer and City of Tybee Island 
8. First Amendment to the Master Services and Purchasing Agreement:  AXON 

 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

9. Bubba Hughes:  TMSC Update on Solar Panels 
 
Minutes of Boards and Committees 

10. Minutes:  Planning Commission, April 15, 2024 
 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
 
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
Adjournment 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 
should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 

meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 

prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 
Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 2 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


File Attachments for Item:

1. Minutes:  April 25, 2024 with attachments

- Page 3 -



 

 

City Council Minutes, April 11, 2024 
 
Mayor West called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, April 11, 2024.  Those in attendance 
were, Nick Sears, Monty Parks, Kathryn Williams, Tony Ploughe, Spec Hosti, and Bill 
Garbett.  Also attending were Michelle Owens, Interim City Manager; Bubba Hughes, City 
Attorney; Tracy O’Connell, City Attorney; and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.   
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation:  Rev. Sue Jackson, Trinity Methodist Church 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Mayor West thanked everyone that contributed to a successful weekend to include the 
City’s leadership for putting together a collaborated public safety and successful 
implementation plan.  He also thanked those who cleaned the beaches Saturday, Sunday, 
and Monday; local businesses; local churches; STR rental companies; and Staff and 
individuals who came to help serve food and clean.  Mayor West continued to thank those 
who contributed to include CEMA who contacted GaDOT to turn all the lights green to 
clear traffic.  The City is aware of an impending event, Peach Fest, another unpermitted 
event, anticipated for Saturday, April 27, 2024 and the City is monitoring the situation 
and will be prepared to handle if the event occurs.   
 
Chief Hayes approached Mayor and Council to give an update on the weekend.  Chief 
Hayes stated, “How do you measure success for something like this?”  Everyone arrived 
safely and everyone went home safely.  There were 54 arrests, which included 17 DUI’s, 
18 felony arrests, and nine (9) firearms taken.  There were no shots fired and no shootings, 
which in years past the City has had both.  She thanked everyone, especially those who 
maned the barricades which kept traffic out of the neighborhoods.   
 
Mayor West asked Julia Pearce to come forward to introduce the delegation from Cape 
Coast, Ghana.  Ms. Pearce thanked the community for supporting their visit.  She then 
introduced the Honorable Mayor Ernest Arthur, Cape Coast, Ghana.  There was an 
exchange in gifts and Mayor West thanked the delegation for visiting Tybee.  He also said 
that he looked forward to a visit to Cape Coast, Ghana.   
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  

 Minutes:  City Council Meeting, April 11, 2024, as amended 

 Budget Amendments 

o Amendment #1:  To use unassigned fund balance to cover the unexpected 
and/or additional costs related to information technology and legal.   

o Amendment #2:  To use unassigned fund balance to cover three quarters of 
costs related to the City's dune monitoring project with Skid-away Institute 

o Amendment #3:  To use fund balance reserved for beach related projects to 
fund the City's planning work for the beach nourishment project with US 
Corps of Engineers.   

 Second Reading, 2024-02, GMEBS-R, City of Tybee Island Defined Benefit 

Retirement Plan 

- Page 4 -Item #1.



 

 

 Resolution:  Tybee Island Resilience Resolution.  Discussion:  Mayor West 
stated Chatham County has requested all municipalities in Chatham County to sign 
and adopt.   

 
City Manager Discussion and Action Items 
Ms. Owens stated the City hosted the DNR Commissioner and two deputies for a tour 
of the beach.   
 
James Bennett approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Bennett welcomed the delegation 
from Cape Coast, Ghana and thanked Mayor and Council for the “open arms” extended 
to the delegation.  He also commended Mayor and Council for a successful weekend.  
Mayor West thanked Mr. Bennett for his comments.   
 
Dawn Shay approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Shay read from a prepared statement 
(attached) regarding Item #5 on the agenda, Budget Amendments.  Mayor West thanked 
Ms. Shay. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  Tony Ploughe seconded.  
Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 
Tracy O'Connell introduced 2024-07:  Potential Amendment of Ordinance on 
the Temporary Use of Recreational Vehicles.  Ms. O’Connell stated this is dealing 
with two issues:  (1) tighten up the definition of dwelling purposes to help Code 
Enforcement and (2) to assist residents who are participating in the Hazard Mitigation 
Grant Program so they have a place to live during the lifting process.  She continued, as 
this is contained within the LDC, it would have to go to Planning Commission if Mayor 
and Council decide to take action.  Ms. Williams stated she understands this is written 
specifically to deal with the FEMA mitigation issue but if another event hits the Island 
and other residents will need to lift and put an RV on their property while their house is 
being fixed, would we have to come back with a new ordinance.  Ms. O’Connell confirmed 
and if it is the desire to make more board or more restrictive, they could do so.  Mr. 
Hughes stated once there is an Emergency Declaration in place, zoning is more or less 
suspended and directed by the Resolution.  Mr. Ploughe asked how many times this has 
happened in past years.  Ms. O’Connell stated there was an incident in 2020 that was 
handled under an Emergency Resolution and has come up in the last couple of months as 
there are a couple of homeowners trying to figure how they can do the Grant and still 
financially do it instead of having two grants or two more payments. Mayor West asked if 
Mayor and Council need to provide direction.  Ms. O’Connell made reference to Sec 3-
110(c) as it allows for recreational vehicles only if they have a permit up to seven days and 
allowed to do it three times per year.  The proposed ordinance is to address that situation 
and allow an exception for those inside the Grant to be able to get around that if they need 
to stay for six or seven months while they are building their new home.  Spec Hosti made 
a motion to send to the Planning Commission for their review and comments.  Monty 
Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous, 6-0. 
 
Spec Hosti asked Mayor and Council if they would like to move forward with gathering 

information on Workforce Housing.  Mayor West stated the City has an opportunity 

to obtain grant money for the specific purpose of creating workforce housing.  This money 

could be used to purchase property as well.  Mr. Parks stated this is a very loosely defined 

- Page 5 -Item #1.



 

 

new program and there are not a lot of guidelines or rules and questions as to who can 

live there and who cannot.  Mr. Host would like to invite someone from the program to 

come and speak to them.  Mayor and Council could then set the guidelines.  Mr. Sears 

confirmed with Mr. Hosti that he would like to gather additional information prior to 

moving forward.  Mr. Hosti stated he would move forward. 

Tony Ploughe would like to move forward with funding options for the North Beach 

Erosion due to Ship Traffic.  Mayor West stated this was discussed at a recent 

workshop and it was determined the City needed someone with expertise to speak to 

Mayor and Council.  Alan Robertson approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Robertson gave 

a brief update on future re-nourishments due to dune erosion.  He stated at a recent 

workshop, representatives from GHD, Coastal Engineers, gave an update on the 

assessment Mayor and Council asked them to do.  It was determined it would cost 

approximately $30,000 to complete the assessment.  Mr. Robertson stated the permit is 

still in place and would provide the City the opportunity, with a simple letter of permit, a 

staff administrative process, to let the City do the same thing again, 20,000 cubic yards 

of sand, to rebuild the dune as it was in 2017.  He stated the long-term solution seems to 

be the repair of the south jetty in the Savannah Channel that is under review by the COE 

and GPA as part of their new Savannah Channel expansion.  He recommended to proceed 

with the DNR, if the permit is still in place and he believes it is, and estimated the cost at 

$1M.  The project has been done before and can be done again but it is a little more 

complicated than the south-end dune but the same size project.  Mayor West thanked Mr. 

Robertson.  Mr. Ploughe stated financing is an issue and we need to move forward with 

the project.  Mr. Robertson reminded Mayor and Council with turtle season, the project 

would be delayed until the season is over in the fall.  Mr. Ploughe stated he has a resolution 

drafted to hire GHD for $30,000, which will help the City with solutions for the dune.  

Mr. Robertson responded he would reach out to GHD to see if they can assist in the 

stabilization of the dune.  He is moving forward with DNR with a letter of permit for 

stabilization.  Mr. Parks thanked Mr. Ploughe for pursuing this issue.  Ms. Williams asked 

Ms. Owens how would like factor into the FY25 budget.  Ms. Owens stated they have not 

accounted for it and they would have to revisit.   

Kathryn Williams would like to have an explanation of the IT Department and 

budget at the May 9, 2024 meeting.  Ms. Williams would like to know what safeguards 

have been put in place to preclude this happening again. 

Monty Parks made a motion to adjourn.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Vote was 6-0 to 

adjourn. 

Meeting adjourned at 8:00PM. 

 

_____________________ 

Jan LeViner, MMC 

Clerk 

- Page 6 -Item #1.



- Page 7 -Item #1.



- Page 8 -Item #1.



File Attachments for Item:

3. Site Plan Approval for the addition of a roof structure over an existing wood deck on the 

south side of the building

- Page 9 -



STAFF REPORT 
 PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING OF:  April 15, 2024 
 CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF:  May 9, 2024 
 
 
 

LOCATION:  33 Meddin Drive PIN:  40001-13008 
 
APPLICANT: North Beach Bar and Grill / George Spriggs OWNER:  City of Tybee Island 
 
EXISTING USE:  Restaurant and Bar PROPOSED USE:  Restaurant and Bar 
 
ZONING:  R-1 / NEC USE PERMITTED BY RIGHT:  Yes  
 
COMMUNITY CHARACTER MAP:  Ft. Screven Historic District 
 
APPLICATION:  Site Plan Approval   
 
PROPOSAL: The applicant is requesting site plan approval for the addition of a roof structure over an existing 
wood deck on the south side of the building. 
 
ANALYSIS: The proposed area is a side entrance to the kitchen and access to the interior of the establishment as 
well as some seating for guests.  This is a pole barn type construction consistent with the other roofed areas 
previously added to the building. 
  
 
STAFF FINDING:  Staff recommends approval. 
 

 This Staff Report prepared by Walter Hattrich 
 

  

- Page 10 -Item #3.



- Page 11 -Item #3.



- Page 12 -Item #3.



- Page 13 -Item #3.



- Page 14 -Item #3.



- Page 15 -Item #3.



- Page 16 -Item #3.



- Page 17 -Item #3.



- Page 18 -Item #3.



- Page 19 -Item #3.



- Page 20 -Item #3.



- Page 21 -Item #3.



- Page 22 -Item #3.



- Page 23 -Item #3.



- Page 24 -Item #3.



- Page 25 -Item #3.



- Page 26 -Item #3.



File Attachments for Item:

4. First Reading:  2024-08  to Amend the Code of Ordinances so as to address the Expiration of 

Short Term Rental Permits in Connection with Transfers of Ownership Interests

- Page 27 -



- Page 28 -Item #4.



- Page 29 -Item #4.



- Page 30 -Item #4.



- Page 31 -Item #4.



- Page 32 -Item #4.



- Page 33 -Item #4.



- Page 34 -Item #4.



- Page 35 -Item #4.



- Page 36 -Item #4.



- Page 37 -Item #4.



- Page 38 -Item #4.



- Page 39 -Item #4.



- Page 40 -Item #4.



- Page 41 -Item #4.



- Page 42 -Item #4.



- Page 43 -Item #4.



- Page 44 -Item #4.



File Attachments for Item:

5. Agreement:  METRIC Group Limited and City of Tybee Island

- Page 45 -



- Page 46 -Item #5.



- Page 47 -Item #5.



- Page 48 -Item #5.



- Page 49 -Item #5.



- Page 50 -Item #5.



- Page 51 -Item #5.



- Page 52 -Item #5.



- Page 53 -Item #5.



- Page 54 -Item #5.



- Page 55 -Item #5.



- Page 56 -Item #5.



- Page 57 -Item #5.



- Page 58 -Item #5.



File Attachments for Item:

6. Memorandum of Agreement:  Visit Tybee and City of Tybee Island:  Info Hut

- Page 59 -



- Page 60 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Indigent Defense Services Agreement:  Jennifer Ozer and City of Tybee Island

- Page 61 -



INDIGENT DEFENSE SERVICES AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN JENNIFER OZER AND 

THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 

 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT entered into this ____ day of ______________, 2024, by and 

between JENNIFER L. OZER, an attorney authorized to practice law in the State of Georgia, 

(hereinafter “Ozer”) and THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA, a body politic and 

municipality of the State of Georgia, PO Box 2749, Tybee Island, GA 31328 (hereinafter the 

“City”).  This Agreement shall be effective upon the execution by the City, except that some 

services may have been provided prior to execution in anticipation of this Agreement and the new 

rate structure shall become effective July 1, 2024. 

 

 WHEREAS, Ozer is an attorney practicing law in the State of Georgia specializing in 

criminal defense work; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City is a Georgia municipality which maintains a municipal court wherein 

charges are brought against individuals sometimes in need of counsel; and 

 

 WHEREAS, applicable laws, including O.C.G.A. §36-32-1 and others, provide for the 

appointment of counsel for indigent defendants; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City and Ozer have negotiated the within Agreement, following a prior 

agreement providing for Ozer’s services to the City which has worked well for the parties, 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, 

the receipt and sufficiency whereof is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 

 1. Engagement.  Ozer agrees to provide indigent defense services for defendants in 

the Municipal Court of Tybee Island as appropriate and in accordance with all applicable laws, the 

City Charter, and the ordinances of the City.  Ozer is to act as Municipal Court Public Defender in 

accordance with such laws. 

 

 2. Place of Work.  The Public Defender will perform the services as required by the 

City on a part time basis at such times and places as Ozer shall determine, except that court shall 

be held at places designated by the City.   

 

 3. Duties.  Ozer shall at all times maintain membership in the Georgia Bar as a 

member in good standing and shall use her best efforts and judgment in performing services of the 

Public Defender and shall act as an independent contractor in the representation of the City 

- Page 62 -Item #7.



customers.  Notwithstanding the provision below, Ozer shall only be required to attend two court 

sessions per month out of any month in which the regular schedule for court sessions is three 

sessions.  The City contemplates having a session of court that would entail the need for the 

services of a Public Defender and, therefore, Ozer should not be required to attend that session nor 

is her compensation based upon any requirement that she attend the third court session.  The duties 

of Ozer as Public Defender shall include contact with the City’s customers and alleged violators 

and the general public and shall at all times behave in a professional manner in representing the 

interest of the City.  Ozer shall be free to arrange the manner of performance of the duties hereunder 

and will not be expected to maintain a schedule of duties, except as necessary to comply with 

reasonable assignments requested by the City from time to time.  As part of the services hereunder, 

Ozer agrees to respond reasonably and when necessary, to visit customers or defendants who are 

inmates in confinement in order to properly perform the responsibilities hereunder. 

 

 From time to time, there may be video hearings for such things are arraignments, bond and 

probation hearings separate and apart from the regular court sessions held at the Tybee Island 

courtroom.  Ozer shall cover these hearings and will be compensated as set forth below.  There is 

no set schedule for these hearings.  If Ozer is unable to cover a hearing, she will find a replacement 

attorney with the necessary qualifications to cover such hearing.  Any individual who covers a 

hearing for Ozer in this circumstance will be paid the same rate set forth below. 

 

 4. Manner of Performance.  Ozer will determine the method, details and means of 

performing services on behalf of the City.  The City shall have no right to, and shall not, control 

the manner or determine the method of accomplishing Ozer’s Public Defender services.  Ozer will 

be responsible for supplying all equipment and instrumentalities required to perform services 

under this agreement; provided, however, upon execution of this agreement, the City will provide 

Ozer with court staff sufficient to manage the court’s services. 

 

 5. Compensation.  For services to be rendered and performed hereunder by Ozer as 

Public Defender with regard to regular two court sessions a month, the City will pay Ozer 

TWENTY-TWO THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED DOLLARS AND 00/100THS ($22,800.00) 

annually for the two court sessions per month for services rendered pursuant to this Agreement.  

Payment shall be invoiced and paid monthly.  This compensation amount shall commence 

effective July 1, 2024. This compensation is to include two court sessions per month and for related 

required communications with the alleged violator.   

  

 If there is a video hearing apart from the regular court sessions, Ozer will be paid $60.00 

per defendant in such video hearings.  If Ozer is unable to appear and has scheduled a replacement, 

the replacement will also be paid $60.00 for each defendant in such video hearing.  Ozer will 

invoice the City monthly for any hearings.  This compensation shall commence effective June 1, 

2024. 

- Page 63 -Item #7.



 

Ozer acknowledges that this is an independent contractor agreement, and she shall be 

responsible for payment of any and all taxes on the compensation paid to her hereunder and agrees 

to indemnify and hold the City harmless therefrom.  As an independent Public Defender, Ozer 

shall not be entitled to receive any fringe benefits that are generally available to employees of the 

City and shall only be entitled to receive the cash compensation specifically set forth herein.  It is 

agreed that, when requested by the City, Ozer will provide estimated costs, expenses, or amount 

of time spent in connection with any defendant(s). 

 

 6. Independent Public Defender. The parties agree that Ozer will act as an 

independent Public Defender in performing her duties hereunder and is not an employee, agent, 

joint venturer or partner of the City.  Ozer shall comply with all federal, state and local laws in 

performing her duties hereunder.  Ozer shall adhere to and perform the duties herein in conformity 

with all practices, procedures, and/or standards required of the Chatham County Public Defender’s 

Office.  Ozer shall not incur any obligations on behalf of the City without the City's written 

consent. Ozer is not an employee of the City and Ozer shall have the exclusive responsibility for 

appropriate withholding of the taxes relating to compensation hereunder, and the City shall not 

withhold any federal, state or local taxes thereon. Further, the City is not obligated to and will not 

withhold FICA (Social Security) from payments made to Ozer and will not make state or federal 

unemployment insurance contributions on behalf of Ozer.  Upon request by City, Ozer shall 

provide proof of compliance with the provisions of this section and failure to comply with same 

shall constitute a breach of this agreement by Ozer. 

 7. Term.  This Agreement shall be an at will term, terminable by either party, and 

may only be terminated upon providing written notice at least thirty (30) days in advance of the 

date of termination.  A termination notice must be sent via certified or registered US mail to the 

address of the parties set forth in the opening paragraph of this Agreement or be provided via hand 

delivery with a written confirmation of receipt.  Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, all 

obligations of the City under this agreement shall cease as of December 31 of each calendar year 

in which this agreement is in effect subject, however, to an automatic renewal of the agreement in 

the absence of a notice to not renew or to cancel at least 30 days prior to the end of a calendar year.   

 8. Expenses.  City shall only reimburse Ozer for expenditures if Ozer had prior 

authorization from City to incur such expenditures. 

 9. Assignment.  The City specifically contracts for services of Ozer but, from time to 

time, in the event Ozer is unavailable, Ozer may assign, subcontract or delegate the duties 

hereunder without notice to City. 

 10. Construction.  The parties acknowledge that each had a part in the preparation of 

this Agreement, and this Agreement shall not be strictly construed against either party. 

- Page 64 -Item #7.



 11. Georgia Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 

with the provisions of the laws of the State of Georgia. 

 12. Severability.  Should any provision of this Agreement be held invalid by any court 

of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this 

Agreement. 

 13. Captions.  The captions or headings of the sections or other subdivision hereof are 

inserted only as a matter of convenience or for reference and shall have no effect on the meaning 

of the provisions hereof.  

 

      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly 

authorized representative and Ozer has caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first 

written above.    

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT PUBLIC DEFENDER  CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 

 

________________________________ ___________________________ 

Name:   Jennifer L. Ozer    Shirley Sessions, Mayor 

 

 

_______________________ Date  ___________________ Date 

 

 

 

       ___________________________ 

       Clerk of Council 

        

 

       _________________ _  Date 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

____________________________ 

Edward M. Hughes, City Attorney 

 

____________________ Date 

- Page 65 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8. First Amendment to the Master Services and Purchasing Agreement:  AXON

- Page 66 -



      

 

First Amendment to the Master 
Services and Purchasing Agreement  

 

Page 1 of 11 

 

This First Amendment (“Amendment”) is between Axon Enterprise, Inc. (f/k/a Taser International, Inc.), a 

Delaware corporation (“Axon”), and the Tybee Island Police Department (GA) (“Agency”). This 

Amendment is effective as of the last signature date on this Amendment (“Effective Date”). Axon and 

Agency are each a “Party” and collectively “Parties”. 

Axon and Agency are Parties to the Master Services and Purchasing Agreement by and between Axon 

Enterprise, Inc. and the Tybee Island Police Department, dated August 15, 2022 (the “Agreement”). 

The Parties wish to incorporate further changes into the Agreement in order to expand the scope of offered 

products. 

The Parties therefore agree as follows: 

1. The Agreement is hereby updated to incorporate the following references: 

a. Any reference to “Axon Body 3” of “AB3” shall also mean “Axon Body 4” or “AB4,” when 

and as applicable. 

b. Any reference under the Agreement to “TASER 7” shall also mean “TASER 10,” except for 

any reference under the TASER Device Appendix or under any applicable Quote, which 

should only refer to the TASER product cited therein.   

2. The attached documents are hereby incorporated into the Agreement: 

a. Professional Services Appendix 

b. Technology Assurance Plan Appendix 

c. TASER Device Appendix 

d. Auto-Tagging Appendix  

e. Application Programming Interface Appendix 

f. Quote Q-554203-45390.802DJ 

g. Quote Q-557708-45366.821DJ 

h. Contract Addendum for the City of Tybee Island  

 

3. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 

Each representative identified below declares that they are an authorized representative of the respective 

Party with authority to execute this Amendment as of the date of signature. 

Axon Enterprise, Inc. Tybee Island Police Department (GA) 

 

Signature:       

 

Signature:       

 

Name:        

 

Name:        

 

Title:         

 

Title:        

 

Date:        

 

Date:         

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

Deputy General Counsel

Robert E. Driscoll, Jr.

5/2/2024 | 11:20 AM MST

- Page 67 -Item #8.



      

 

First Amendment to the Master 
Services and Purchasing Agreement  

 

Page 2 of 11 

 

Professional Services Appendix 

If any of the Professional Services specified below are included on the Quote, this Appendix applies. 

1. Utilization of Services. Customer must use professional services as outlined in the Quote and this Appendix 
within six (6) months of the Effective Date. 

2. Axon Full Service (Axon Full Service). Axon Full Service includes advance remote project planning and 
configuration support and up to four (4) consecutive days of on-site service and a professional services 
manager to work with Customer to assess Customer’s deployment and determine which on-site services are 
appropriate. If Customer requires more than four (4) consecutive on-site days, Customer must purchase 
additional days. Axon Full Service options include:  

System set up and configuration 

• Instructor-led setup of Axon View on smartphones (if applicable) 

• Configure categories and custom roles based on Customer need 

• Register cameras to Customer domain 

• Troubleshoot IT issues with Axon Evidence and Axon Dock ("Dock") access 

• One on-site session included 

Dock configuration  

• Work with Customer to decide the ideal location of Docks and set configurations on Dock  

• Authenticate Dock with Axon Evidence using admin credentials from Customer 

• On-site assistance, not to include physical mounting of docks  

Best practice implementation planning session  

• Provide considerations for the establishment of video policy and system operations best practices 
based on Axon’s observations with other agencies 

• Discuss the importance of entering metadata in the field for organization purposes and other best 
practices for digital data management 

• Provide referrals of other agencies using the Axon camera devices and Axon Evidence  

• Recommend rollout plan based on review of shift schedules 

System Admin and troubleshooting training sessions 
Step-by-step explanation and assistance for Customer’s configuration of security, roles & permissions, 
categories & retention, and other specific settings for Axon Evidence 

Axon instructor training (Train the Trainer) 
Training for Customer’s in-house instructors who can support Customer’s Axon camera and Axon 
Evidence training needs after Axon has fulfilled its contractual on-site obligations 

Evidence sharing training 
Tailored workflow instruction for Investigative Units on sharing Cases and Evidence with local prosecuting 
agencies 

End user go-live training and support sessions 

• Assistance with device set up and configuration 

• Training on device use, Axon Evidence, and Evidence Sync 

Implementation document packet 
Axon Evidence administrator guides, camera implementation guides, network setup guide, sample 
policies, and categories & roles guide 

Post go-live review  

3. Body-Worn Camera Starter Service (Axon Starter). Axon Starter includes advance remote project 
planning and configuration support and one (1) day of on-site Services and a professional services manager 
to work closely with Customer to assess Customer’s deployment and determine which Services are 
appropriate. If Customer requires more than one (1) day of on-site Services, Customer must purchase 
additional on-site Services. The Axon Starter options include: 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 68 -Item #8.

https://my.axon.com/s/resources?language=en_US


      

 

First Amendment to the Master 
Services and Purchasing Agreement  

 

Page 3 of 11 

 

 

System set up and configuration (Remote Support) 

• Instructor-led setup of Axon View on smartphones (if applicable) 

• Configure categories & custom roles based on Customer need 

• Troubleshoot IT issues with Axon Evidence and Dock access 

Dock configuration 

• Work with Customer to decide the ideal location of Dock setup and set configurations on Dock 

• Authenticate Dock with Axon Evidence using "Administrator" credentials from Customer 

• Does not include physical mounting of docks 

Axon instructor training (Train the Trainer) 
Training for Customer’s in-house instructors who can support Customer’s Axon camera and Axon 
Evidence training needs after Axon’s has fulfilled its contracted on-site obligations 

End user go-live training and support sessions 

• Assistance with device set up and configuration 

• Training on device use, Axon Evidence, and Evidence Sync 

Implementation document packet 
Axon Evidence administrator guides, camera implementation guides, network setup guide, sample 
policies, and categories & roles guide 

4. Body-Worn Camera Virtual 1-Day Service (Axon Virtual). Axon Virtual includes all items in the BWC 
Starter Service Package, except one (1) day of on-site services. 

5. CEW Services Packages. CEW Services Packages are detailed below: 

 

System set up and configuration 

• Configure Axon Evidence categories & custom roles based on Customer need. 

• Troubleshoot IT issues with Axon Evidence. 

• Register users and assign roles in Axon Evidence. 

• For the CEW Full Service Package: On-site assistance included 

• For the CEW Starter Package: Virtual assistance included 

Dedicated Project Manager 
Assignment of specific Axon representative for all aspects of planning the rollout (Project Manager). 
Ideally, Project Manager will be assigned to Customer 4–6 weeks before rollout 

Best practice implementation planning session to include: 

• Provide considerations for the establishment of CEW policy and system operations best practices 
based on Axon’s observations with other agencies 

• Discuss the importance of entering metadata and best practices for digital data management 

• Provide referrals to other agencies using TASER CEWs and Axon Evidence 

• For the CEW Full Service Package: On-site assistance included 

• For the CEW Starter Package: Virtual assistance included 

System Admin and troubleshooting training sessions 
On-site sessions providing a step-by-step explanation and assistance for Customer’s configuration of 
security, roles & permissions, categories & retention, and other specific settings for Axon Evidence 

Axon Evidence Instructor training 

• Provide training on the Axon Evidence to educate instructors who can support Customer’s 
subsequent Axon Evidence training needs. 

• For the CEW Full Service Package: Training for up to 3 individuals at Customer 

• For the CEW Starter Package: Training for up to 1 individual at Customer 

TASER CEW inspection and device assignment 
Axon’s on-site professional services team will perform functions check on all new TASER CEW Smart 
weapons and assign them to a user on Axon Evidence. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 69 -Item #8.

https://my.axon.com/s/resources?language=en_US


      

 

First Amendment to the Master 
Services and Purchasing Agreement  

 

Page 4 of 11 

 

 

Post go-live review  
For the CEW Full Service Package: On-site assistance included. 
For the CEW Starter Package: Virtual assistance included. 

6. Smart Weapon Transition Service. The Smart Weapon Transition Service includes:  

Archival of CEW Firing Logs 
Axon’s on-site professional services team will upload CEW firing logs to Axon Evidence from all TASER CEW 
Smart Weapons that Customer is replacing with newer Smart Weapon models. 

Return of Old Weapons 
Axon’s on-site professional service team will ship all old weapons back to Axon’s headquarters. 
Axon will provide Customer with a Certificate of Destruction 

*Note: CEW Full Service packages for TASER 7 or TASER 10 include Smart Weapon Transition Service 
instead of 1-Day Device Specific Instructor Course. 

7. VR Services Package. VR Service includes advance remote project planning and configuration support and 
one (1) day of on-site service and a professional services manager to work with Customer to assess 
Customer's deployment and determine which Services are appropriate.  The VR Service training options 
include: 

System set up and configuration (Remote Support) 

• Instructor-led setup of Axon VR headset content 

• Configure Customer settings based on Customer need 

• Troubleshoot IT issues with Axon VR headset 

Axon instructor training (Train the Trainer) 

Training for up to five (5) Customer's in-house instructors who can support Customer's Axon VR CET and 

SIM training needs after Axon’s has fulfilled its contracted on-site obligations 

Classroom and practical training sessions 

Step-by-step explanation and assistance for Customer's configuration of Axon VR CET and SIM functionality, 

basic operation, and best practices 

 

8. Axon Air, On-Site Training.  Axon Air, On-Site training includes advance remote project planning and 
configuration support and one (1) day of on-site Services and a professional services manager to work 
closely with Customer to assess Customer's deployment and determine which Services are appropriate. If 
Customer's requires more than one (1) day of on-site Services, Customer must purchase additional on-site 
Services. The Axon Air, On-Site training options include:  

System set up and configuration (Remote Support) 

• Instructor-led setup of Axon Air App (ASDS) 

• Configure Customer settings based on Customer need 

• Configure drone controller 

• Troubleshoot IT issues with Axon Evidence 

Axon instructor training (Train the Trainer) 

Training for Customer's in-house instructors who can support Customer's Axon Air and Axon Evidence 

training needs after Axon’s has fulfilled its contracted on-site obligations 

Classroom and practical training sessions 

Step-by-step explanation and assistance for Customer's configuration of Axon Respond+ livestreaming 

functionality, basic operation, and best practices 

 

9. Axon Air, Virtual Training.  Axon Air, Virtual training includes all items in the Axon Air, On-Site Training 
Package, except the practical training session, with the Axon Instructor training for up to four hours virtually. 

10. Signal Sidearm Installation Service.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 70 -Item #8.



      

 

First Amendment to the Master 
Services and Purchasing Agreement  

 

Page 5 of 11 

 

a. Purchases of 50 SSA units or more: Axon will provide one (1) day of on-site service and one 
professional services manager and will provide train the trainer instruction, with direct 
assistance on the first of each unique holster/mounting type. Customer is responsible for 
providing a suitable work/training area. 

b. Purchases of less than 50 SSA units: Axon will provide a 1-hour virtual instruction session 
on the basics of installation and device calibration. 

11. Out of Scope Services. Axon is only responsible to perform the professional services described in the Quote 
and this Appendix. Any additional professional services are out of scope. The Parties must document scope 
changes in a written and signed change order. Changes may require an equitable adjustment in the charges 
or schedule. 

12. Delivery of Services. Axon personnel will work Monday through Friday, 8:30 a.m. to 5:30 p.m., except 
holidays. Axon will perform all on-site tasks over a consecutive timeframe. Axon will not charge Customer 
travel time by Axon personnel to Customer premises as work hours. 

13. Access Computer Systems to Perform Services. Customer authorizes Axon to access relevant Customer 
computers and networks, solely for performing the Services. Axon will work to identify as soon as reasonably 
practicable resources and information Axon expects to use and will provide an initial itemized list to 
Customer. Customer is responsible for and assumes the risk of any problems, delays, losses, claims, or 
expenses resulting from the content, accuracy, completeness, and consistency of all data, materials, and 
information supplied by Customer. 

14. Site Preparation. Axon will provide a hardcopy or digital copy of current user documentation for the Axon 
Devices ("User Documentation"). User Documentation will include all required environmental specifications 
for the professional services and Axon Devices to operate per the Axon Device User Documentation. Before 
installation of Axon Devices (whether performed by Customer or Axon), Customer must prepare the 
location(s) where Axon Devices are to be installed ("Installation Site") per the environmental specifications 
in the Axon Device User Documentation. Following installation, Customer must maintain the Installation Site 
per the environmental specifications. If Axon modifies Axon Device User Documentation for any Axon 
Devices under this Agreement, Axon will provide the update to Customer when Axon generally releases it 

15. Acceptance. When Axon completes professional services, Axon will present an acceptance form 
("Acceptance Form") to Customer. Customer will sign the Acceptance Form acknowledging completion. If 
Customer reasonably believes Axon did not complete the professional services in substantial conformance 
with this Agreement, Customer must notify Axon in writing of the specific reasons for rejection within seven 
(7) calendar days from delivery of the Acceptance Form. Axon will address the issues and re-present the 
Acceptance Form for signature. If Axon does not receive the signed Acceptance Form or written notification 
of reasons for rejection within seven (7) calendar days of delivery of the Acceptance Form, Axon will deem 
Customer to have accepted the professional services. 

16. Customer Network. For work performed by Axon transiting or making use of Customer’s network, Customer 
is solely responsible for maintenance and functionality of the network. In no event will Axon be liable for loss, 
damage, or corruption of Customer’s network from any cause. 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 71 -Item #8.



      

 

First Amendment to the Master 
Services and Purchasing Agreement  

 

Page 6 of 11 

 

Technology Assurance Plan Appendix 

If Technology Assurance Plan ("TAP") or a bundle including TAP is on the Quote, this appendix applies.  

1. TAP Warranty. The TAP warranty is an extended warranty that starts at the end of the one- (1-) year 
hardware limited warranty.  

2. Officer Safety Plan. If Customer purchases an Officer Safety Plan ("OSP"), Customer will receive the 
deliverables detailed in the Quote. Customer must accept delivery of the TASER CEW and accessories as 
soon as available from Axon.  

3. OSP 7 or OSP 10 Term. OSP 7 or OSP 10 begins on the date specified in the Quote ("OSP  Term"). 

4. TAP BWC Upgrade. If Customer has no outstanding payment obligations and purchased TAP, Axon will 
provide Customer a new Axon body-worn camera ("BWC Upgrade") as scheduled in the Quote. If Customer 
purchased TAP, Axon will provide a BWC Upgrade that is the same or like Axon Device, at Axon’s option. 
Axon makes no guarantee the BWC Upgrade will utilize the same accessories or Axon dock. 

5. TAP Dock Upgrade. If Customer has no outstanding payment obligations and purchased TAP, Axon will 
provide Customer a new Axon Dock as scheduled in the Quote ("Dock Upgrade"). Accessories associated 
with any Dock Upgrades are subject to change at Axon discretion. Dock Upgrades will only include a new 
Axon dock bay configuration unless a new Axon dock core is required for BWC compatibility. If Customer 
originally purchased a single-bay Axon dock, the Dock Upgrade will be a single-bay Axon dock model that is 
the same or like Axon Device, at Axon’s option. If Customer originally purchased a multi-bay Axon dock, the 
Dock Upgrade will be a multi-bay Axon dock that is the same or like Axon Device, at Axon’s option. 

6. Upgrade Delay. Axon may ship the BWC and Dock Upgrades as scheduled in the Quote without prior 
confirmation from Customer unless the Parties agree in writing otherwise at least ninety (90) days in advance. 
Axon may ship the final BWC and Dock Upgrade as scheduled in the Quote sixty (60) days before the end 
of the Subscription Term without prior confirmation from Customer.  

7. Upgrade Change. If Customer wants to upgrade Axon Device models from the current Axon Device to an 
upgraded Axon Device, Customer must pay the price difference between the MSRP for the current Axon 
Device and the MSRP for the upgraded Axon Device. If the model Customer desires has an MSRP less than 
the MSRP of the offered BWC Upgrade or Dock Upgrade, Axon will not provide a refund. The MSRP is the 
MSRP in effect at the time of the upgrade. 

8. Return of Original Axon Device. Within thirty (30) days of receiving a BWC or Dock Upgrade, Customer 
must return the original Axon Devices to Axon or destroy the Axon Devices and provide a certificate of 
destruction to Axon including serial numbers for the destroyed Axon Devices. If Customer does not return or 
destroy the Axon Devices, Axon will deactivate the serial numbers for the Axon Devices received by 
Customer. 

9. Termination. If Customer’s payment for TAP, OSP, or Axon Evidence is more than thirty (30) days past due, 
Axon may terminate TAP or OSP. Once TAP or OSP terminates for any reason: 

9.1. TAP and OSP coverage terminate as of the date of termination and no refunds will be given.  

9.2. Axon will not and has no obligation to provide the Upgrade Models. 

9.3. Customer must make any missed payments due to the termination before Customer may purchase any 
future TAP or OSP. 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 72 -Item #8.



      

 

First Amendment to the Master 
Services and Purchasing Agreement  

 

Page 7 of 11 

 

TASER Device Appendix 

This TASER Device Appendix applies to Customer’s TASER 7/10, OSP 7/10, OSP Plus, or OSP 7/10 Plus 
Premium purchase from Axon, if applicable. 

1. Duty Cartridge Replenishment Plan. If the Quote includes "Duty Cartridge Replenishment Plan", 
Customer must purchase the plan for each CEW user. A CEW user includes officers that use a CEW in the 
line of duty and those that only use a CEW for training. Customer may not resell cartridges received. Axon 
will only replace cartridges used in the line of duty. 

2. Training. If the Quote includes a TASER On Demand Certification subscription, Customer will have on-
demand access to TASER Instructor and TASER Master Instructor courses only for the duration of the 
TASER Subscription Term. Axon will issue a maximum of ten (10) TASER Instructor vouchers and ten (10) 
TASER Master Instructor vouchers for every thousand TASER Subscriptions purchased. Customer shall 
utilize vouchers to register for TASER courses at their discretion however Customer may incur a fee for 
cancellations less than 10 business days prior to a course date or failure to appear to a registered course. 
The voucher has no cash value. Customer cannot exchange voucher for any other device or service. Any 
unused vouchers at the end of the Term will be forfeited. A voucher does not include any travel or other 
expenses that might be incurred related to attending a course.  

3. Extended Warranty. If the Quote includes an extended warranty, the extended warranty coverage period 
warranty will be for a five- (5-) year term, which includes the hardware manufacturer’s warranty plus the four- 
(4-) year extended term. 

4. Trade-in. If the Quote contains a discount on CEW-related line items and that discount is contingent upon 
the trade-in of hardware, Customer must return used hardware and accessories associated with the discount 
("Trade-In Units") to Axon within the below prescribed timeline. Customer must ship batteries via ground 
shipping. Axon will pay shipping costs of the return. If Axon does not receive Trade-In Units within the 
timeframe below, Axon will invoice Customer the value of the trade-in credit. Customer may not destroy 
Trade-In Units and receive a trade-in credit. 

 

Customer Size Days to Return from Start Date of TASER 10 Subscription  

Less than 100 officers 60 days 

100 to 499 officers 90 days 

500+ officers 180 days 

 

5. TASER Device Subscription Term. The TASER Device Subscription Term for a standalone TASER Device 
purchase begins on shipment of the TASER Device. The TASER Device Subscription Term for OSP 7/10 
begins on the OSP 7/10 start date. 

6. Access Rights. Upon Axon granting Customer a TASER Device Axon Evidence subscription, Customer may 
access and use Axon Evidence for the storage and management of data from TASER Devices devices during 
the TASER Device Subscription Term. Customer may not exceed the number of end users the Quote 
specifies.  

7. Customer Warranty. If Customer is located in the US, Customer warrants and acknowledges that TASER 
10 is classified as a firearm and is being acquired for official Customer use pursuant to a law enforcement 
Customer transfer under the Gun Control Act of 1968. 

8. Purchase Order. To comply with applicable laws and regulations, Customer must provide a purchase 
order to Axon prior to shipment of TASER 10. 

9. Apollo Grant (US only). If Customer has received an Apollo Grant from Axon, Customer must pay all fees 
in the Quote prior to upgrading to any new TASER Device offered by Axon.   

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 73 -Item #8.



      

 

First Amendment to the Master 
Services and Purchasing Agreement  

 

Page 8 of 11 

 

10. Termination. If payment for TASER Device is more than thirty (30) days past due, Axon may terminate 
Customer’s TASER Device plan by notifying Customer. Upon termination for any reason, then as of the date 
of termination: 

10.1. TASER Device extended warranties and access to Training Content will terminate. No refunds will be 
given. 

10.2. Axon will invoice Customer the remaining MSRP for TASER Devices received before termination. If 
terminating for non-appropriations, Axon will not invoice Customer if Customer returns the TASER 
Device, rechargeable battery, holster, dock, core, training suits, and unused cartridges to Axon within 
thirty (30) days of the date of termination. 

10.3. Customer will be responsible for payment of any missed payments due to the termination before being 
allowed to purchase any future TASER Device plan. 

 

 

 
 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 74 -Item #8.



      

 

First Amendment to the Master 
Services and Purchasing Agreement  

 

Page 9 of 11 

 

Axon Auto-Tagging Appendix 

If Auto-Tagging is included on the Quote, this Appendix applies. 

1. Scope. Axon Auto-Tagging consists of the development of a module to allow Axon Evidence to interact with 
Customer’s Computer-Aided Dispatch ("CAD") or Records Management Systems ("RMS"). This allows end 
users to auto-populate Axon video meta-data with a case ID, category, and location-based on data 
maintained in Customer’s CAD or RMS. 

2. Support. For thirty (30) days after completing Auto-Tagging Services, Axon will provide up to five (5) hours 
of remote support at no additional charge. Axon will provide free support due to a change in Axon Evidence, 
if Customer maintains an Axon Evidence and Auto-Tagging subscription. Axon will not provide support if a 
change is required because Customer changes its CAD or RMS.  

3. Changes. Axon is only responsible to perform the Services in this Appendix. Any additional Services are out 
of scope. The Parties must document scope changes in a written and signed change order. Changes may 
require an equitable adjustment in fees or schedule.  

4. Customer Responsibilities. Axon’s performance of Auto-Tagging Services requires Customer to: 

4.1. Make available relevant systems, including Customer’s current CAD or RMS, for assessment by Axon 
(including remote access if possible); 

4.2. Make required modifications, upgrades or alterations to Customer’s hardware, facilities, systems and 
networks related to Axon’s performance of Auto-Tagging Services; 

4.3. Provide access to the premises where Axon is performing Auto-Tagging Services, subject to Customer 
safety and security restrictions, and allow Axon to enter and exit the premises with laptops and 
materials needed to perform Auto-Tagging Services; 

4.4. Provide all infrastructure and software information (TCP/IP addresses, node names, network 
configuration) necessary for Axon to provide Auto-Tagging Services; 

4.5. Promptly install and implement any software updates provided by Axon; 

4.6. Ensure that all appropriate data backups are performed; 

4.7. Provide assistance, participation, and approvals in testing Auto-Tagging Services; 

4.8. Provide Axon with remote access to Customer’s Axon Evidence account when required; 

4.9. Notify Axon of any network or machine maintenance that may impact the performance of the module 
at Customer; and 

4.10. Ensure reasonable availability of knowledgeable staff and personnel to provide timely, accurate, 
complete, and up-to-date documentation and information to Axon. 

5. Access to Systems. Customer authorizes Axon to access Customer’s relevant computers, network 
systems, and CAD or RMS solely for performing Auto-Tagging Services. Axon will work diligently to identify 
the resources and information Axon expects to use and will provide an initial list to Customer. Customer is 
responsible for and assumes the risk of any problems, delays, losses, claims, or expenses resulting from the 
content, accuracy, completeness, and consistency of all data, materials, and information supplied by 
Customer.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 75 -Item #8.



      

 

First Amendment to the Master 
Services and Purchasing Agreement  

 

Page 10 of 11 

 

Axon Application Programming Interface Appendix 

This Appendix applies if Axon’s API Services or a subscription to Axon Cloud Services is included on the Quote. 

1. Definitions.  

1.1. "API Client" means the software that acts as the interface between Customer’s computer and the 
server, which is already developed or to be developed by Customer.  

1.2. "API Interface" means software implemented by Customer to configure Customer’s independent API 
Client Software to operate in conjunction with the API Service for Customer’s authorized Use. 

1.3. "Axon Evidence Partner API, API or Axon API" (collectively "API Service") means Axon’s API which 
provides a programmatic means to access data in Customer’s Axon Evidence account or integrate 
Customer’s Axon Evidence account with other systems.  

1.4. "Use" means any operation on Customer’s data enabled by the supported API functionality. 

2. Purpose and License. 

2.1. Customer may use API Service and data made available through API Service, in connection with an 
API Client developed by Customer. Axon may monitor Customer’s use of API Service to ensure quality, 
improve Axon devices and services, and verify compliance with this Agreement. Customer agrees to 
not interfere with such monitoring or obscure from Axon Customer’s use of API Service. Customer will 
not use API Service for commercial use.  

2.2. Axon grants Customer a non-exclusive, non-transferable, non-sublicensable, worldwide, revocable 
right and license during the Term to use API Service, solely for Customer’s Use in connection with 
Customer’s API Client.  

2.3. Axon reserves the right to set limitations on Customer’s use of the API Service, such as a quota on 
operations, to ensure stability and availability of Axon’s API. Axon will use reasonable efforts to 
accommodate use beyond the designated limits.  

3. Configuration. Customer will work independently to configure Customer’s API Client with API Service for 
Customer’s applicable Use. Customer will be required to provide certain information (such as identification 
or contact details) as part of the registration. Registration information provided to Axon must be accurate. 
Customer will inform Axon promptly of any updates. Upon Customer’s registration, Axon will provide 
documentation outlining API Service information.  

4. Customer Responsibilities. When using API Service, Customer and its end users may not: 

4.1. use API Service in any way other than as expressly permitted under this Agreement;  

4.2. use in any way that results in, or could result in, any security breach to Axon; 

4.3. perform an action with the intent of introducing any viruses, worms, defect, Trojan horses, malware, 
or any items of a destructive nature to Axon Devices and Services;  

4.4. interfere with, modify, disrupt or disable features or functionality of API Service or the servers or 
networks providing API Service; 

4.5. reverse engineer, decompile, disassemble, or translate or attempt to extract the source code from API 
Service or any related software;  

4.6. create an API Interface that functions substantially the same as API Service and offer it for use by 
third parties; 

4.7. provide use of API Service on a service bureau, rental or managed services basis or permit other 
individuals or entities to create links to API Service; 

4.8. frame or mirror API Service on any other server, or wireless or Internet-based device; 

4.9. make available to a third-party, any token, key, password or other login credentials to API Service;  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 76 -Item #8.



      

 

First Amendment to the Master 
Services and Purchasing Agreement  

 

Page 11 of 11 

 

4.10. take any action or inaction resulting in illegal, unauthorized or improper purposes; or 

4.11. disclose Axon’s API manual. 

5. API Content. All content related to API Service, other than Customer Content or Customer’s API Client 
content, is considered Axon’s API Content, including:  

5.1. the design, structure and naming of API Service fields in all responses and requests;  

5.2. the resources available within API Service for which Customer takes actions on, such as evidence, 
cases, users, or reports; 

5.3. the structure of and relationship of API Service resources; and  

5.4. the design of API Service, in any part or as a whole.  

6. Prohibitions on API Content. Neither Customer nor its end users will use API content returned from the 
API Interface to: 

6.1. scrape, build databases, or otherwise create permanent copies of such content, or keep cached copies 
longer than permitted by the cache header; 

6.2. copy, translate, modify, create a derivative work of, sell, lease, lend, convey, distribute, publicly display, 
or sublicense to any third-party; 

6.3. misrepresent the source or ownership; or 

6.4. remove, alter, or obscure any confidentiality or proprietary rights notices (including copyright and 
trademark notices). 

7. API Updates. Axon may update or modify the API Service from time to time ("API Update"). Customer is 
required to implement and use the most current version of API Service and to make any applicable changes 
to Customer’s API Client required as a result of such API Update. API Updates may adversely affect how 
Customer’s API Client access or communicate with API Service or the API Interface. Each API Client must 
contain means for Customer to update API Client to the most current version of API Service. Axon will provide 
support for one (1) year following the release of an API Update for all depreciated API Service versions. 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 77 -Item #8.



Page 1 Q-554203-45390.802DJ

Q-554203-45390.802DJ

Issued: 04/08/2024

Quote Expiration: 06/07/2024

Estimated Contract Start Date: 09/15/2024

Account Number: 467617
Payment Terms: N30

Delivery Method: 

SHIP TO BILL TO SALES REPRESENTATIVE PRIMARY CONTACT

Tybee Island Police Dept. - GA
78 Van Horne Ave
Tybee Island,
GA
31328-9780
USA

 
Tybee Island Police Dept. - GA
PO Box 2749
Tybee Island
GA
31328-2749
USA 
Email: 

Dan Jackson
Phone: 

Email: djackson@axon.com
Fax: 

Bertram Whitley
Phone: (912) 786-5600

Email: bwhitley@cityoftybee.org
Fax: 

Quote Summary Discount Summary

Program Length 62 Months Average Savings Per Year $28,026.61

TOTAL COST $438,905.44
ESTIMATED TOTAL W/ TAX $438,905.44 TOTAL SAVINGS $144,804.16

 

Axon Enterprise, Inc.
17800 N 85th St.
Scottsdale, Arizona 85255
United States
VAT: 86-0741227
Domestic: (800) 978-2737
International: +1.800.978.2737

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 78 -Item #8.



Page 2 Q-554203-45390.802DJ

Payment Summary 
Date Subtotal Tax Total
Oct 2024 $83,332.64 $0.00 $83,332.64
Oct 2025 $88,893.20 $0.00 $88,893.20
Oct 2026 $88,893.20 $0.00 $88,893.20
Oct 2027 $88,893.20 $0.00 $88,893.20
Oct 2028 $88,893.20 $0.00 $88,893.20
Total $438,905.44 $0.00 $438,905.44

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 79 -Item #8.



Page 3 Q-554203-45390.802DJ

Quote Unbundled Price: $583,709.60
Quote List Price: $488,523.20
Quote Subtotal: $438,905.44

Pricing

All deliverables are detailed in Delivery Schedules section lower in proposal
Item Description Qty Term Unbundled  List Price Net Price Subtotal Tax Total
Program
100553 TRANSFER CREDIT - SOFTWARE AND SERVICES 1 $1.00 ($5,560.56) ($5,560.56) $0.00 ($5,560.56)
M00010 BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 34 60 $263.31 $216.65 $216.65 $441,966.00 $0.00 $441,966.00
A la Carte Hardware
H00002 AB4 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 5 $1,638.90 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
H00001 AB4 Camera Bundle 34 $849.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
A la Carte Software 
100801 AXON RECORDS - OSP LICENSE 28 2 $39.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
73449 AXON RESPOND - LICENSE 35 2 $5.20 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
73746 AXON EVIDENCE - ECOM LICENSE - PRO 9 2 $40.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
20248 AXON TASER - EVIDENCE.COM LICENSE 30 2 $5.20 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

73686 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - UNLIMITED (AXON 
DEVICE) 7 2 $25.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

73682 AXON EVIDENCE - AUTO TAGGING LICENSE 28 2 $10.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
73683 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - 10GB A LA CARTE 146 2 $0.60 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
A la Carte Services 
100610 AXON SIGNAL - INSTALLATION SERVICE - VIRTUAL 1 $1,500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20246 AXON TASER 7 - REPLACEMENT ACCESS PROGRAM - 
DUTY CARTRIDGE 28 2 $2.70 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

101208 AXON TASER 10 - 2 DAY INSTRUCTOR COURSE - INSIDE 
SALES 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $0.00 $2,500.00

A la Carte Warranties 
80396 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - DOCK SIX BAY 1 2 $7.45 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
80498 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - EIGHT BAY DOCK 1 2 $21.70 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
80395 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - HANDLE 28 2 $7.45 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
80496 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - CAMERA 7 2 $12.20 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
80374 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - BATTERY PACK 33 2 $0.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Total $438,905.44 $0.00 $438,905.44

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 80 -Item #8.



Page 4 Q-554203-45390.802DJ

Delivery Schedule

Hardware 

Bundle Item Description QTY Shipping Location Estimated Delivery 
Date

AB4 Camera Bundle 100147 AXON BODY 4 - CAMERA - NA US FIRST RESPONDER BLK RAPIDLOCK 34 1 10/15/2024
AB4 Camera Bundle 100147 AXON BODY 4 - CAMERA - NA US FIRST RESPONDER BLK RAPIDLOCK 1 1 10/15/2024
AB4 Camera Bundle 100466 AXON BODY 4 - CABLE - USB-C TO USB-C 38 1 10/15/2024
AB4 Camera Bundle 11507 MOLLE MOUNT, SINGLE, AXON RAPIDLOCK 38 1 10/15/2024
AB4 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 100206 AXON BODY 4 - DOCK - EIGHT BAY 5 1 10/15/2024
AB4 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 70033 AXON - DOCK WALL MOUNT - BRACKET ASSY 5 1 10/15/2024
AB4 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 71019 AXON BODY - DOCK POWERCORD - NORTH AMERICA 5 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100390 AXON TASER 10 - HANDLE - YELLOW CLASS 3R 34 2 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100390 AXON TASER 10 - HANDLE - YELLOW CLASS 3R 1 2 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100393 AXON TASER 10 - MAGAZINE - LIVE DUTY BLACK 34 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100393 AXON TASER 10 - MAGAZINE - LIVE DUTY BLACK 1 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100394 AXON TASER 10 - MAGAZINE - HALT TRAINING BLUE 4 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100395 AXON TASER 10 - MAGAZINE - LIVE TRAINING PURPLE 3 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100396 AXON TASER 10 - MAGAZINE - INERT RED 30 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100399 TASER 10 LIVE CARTRIDGE 680 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100400 AXON TASER 10 - CARTRIDGE - HALT 210 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100401 AXON TASER 10 - CARTRIDGE - INERT 300 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100611 AXON TASER 10 - SAFARILAND HOLSTER - RH 34 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100623 AXON TASER - TRAINING - ENHANCED HALT SUIT V2 1 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100681 AXON SIGNAL - SIDEARM SENSOR ONLY 34 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 20018 AXON TASER -  BATTERY PACK - TACTICAL 34 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 20018 AXON TASER -  BATTERY PACK - TACTICAL 6 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 20018 AXON TASER -  BATTERY PACK - TACTICAL 1 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 70033 AXON - DOCK WALL MOUNT - BRACKET ASSY 1 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 71019 AXON BODY - DOCK POWERCORD - NORTH AMERICA 1 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 71044 AXON SIGNAL - BATTERY - CR2430 SINGLE PACK 68 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 74200 AXON TASER - DOCK - SIX BAY PLUS CORE 1 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 80087 AXON TASER - TARGET - CONDUCTIVE PROFESSIONAL RUGGEDIZED 1 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 80090 AXON TASER - TARGET FRAME - PROFESSIONAL 27.5 IN X 75 IN 1 1 10/15/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100399 TASER 10 LIVE CARTRIDGE 110 1 10/15/2025
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100400 AXON TASER 10 - CARTRIDGE - HALT 280 1 10/15/2025
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100399 TASER 10 LIVE CARTRIDGE 100 1 10/15/2026
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100400 AXON TASER 10 - CARTRIDGE - HALT 270 1 10/15/2026
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 73309 AXON BODY - TAP REFRESH 1 - CAMERA 35 1 04/15/2027
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 73689 AXON BODY - TAP REFRESH 1 - DOCK MULTI BAY 5 1 04/15/2027
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100399 TASER 10 LIVE CARTRIDGE 100 1 10/15/2027
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100400 AXON TASER 10 - CARTRIDGE - HALT 270 1 10/15/2027
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100399 TASER 10 LIVE CARTRIDGE 100 1 10/15/2028
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100400 AXON TASER 10 - CARTRIDGE - HALT 270 1 10/15/2028
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 73310 AXON BODY - TAP REFRESH 2 - CAMERA 35 1 10/15/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 73688 AXON BODY - TAP REFRESH 2 - DOCK MULTI BAY 5 1 10/15/2029

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 81 -Item #8.



Page 5 Q-554203-45390.802DJ

Software 
Bundle Item Description QTY Estimated Start Date Estimated End Date
A la Carte 100801 AXON RECORDS - OSP LICENSE 28 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
A la Carte 20248 AXON TASER - EVIDENCE.COM LICENSE 30 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
A la Carte 73449 AXON RESPOND - LICENSE 35 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
A la Carte 73682 AXON EVIDENCE - AUTO TAGGING LICENSE 28 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
A la Carte 73683 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - 10GB A LA CARTE 146 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
A la Carte 73686 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - UNLIMITED (AXON DEVICE) 7 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
A la Carte 73746 AXON EVIDENCE - ECOM LICENSE - PRO 9 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 101180 AXON TASER - DATA SCIENCE PROGRAM 34 11/15/2024 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 20248 AXON TASER - EVIDENCE.COM LICENSE 34 11/15/2024 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 20248 AXON TASER - EVIDENCE.COM LICENSE 1 11/15/2024 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 73638 AXON STANDARDS - LICENSE 34 11/15/2024 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 73680 AXON RESPOND PLUS - LICENSE 34 11/15/2024 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 73683 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - 10GB A LA CARTE 340 11/15/2024 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 73686 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - UNLIMITED (AXON DEVICE) 34 11/15/2024 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 73746 AXON EVIDENCE - ECOM LICENSE - PRO 34 11/15/2024 11/14/2029

Services 
Bundle Item Description QTY
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100751 AXON TASER 10 - REPLACEMENT ACCESS PROGRAM - DUTY CARTRIDGE 34
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 101193 AXON TASER - ON DEMAND CERTIFICATION 1
A la Carte 100610 AXON SIGNAL - INSTALLATION SERVICE - VIRTUAL 1
A la Carte 101208 AXON TASER 10 - 2 DAY INSTRUCTOR COURSE - INSIDE SALES 1
A la Carte 20246 AXON TASER 7 - REPLACEMENT ACCESS PROGRAM - DUTY CARTRIDGE 28

Warranties 
Bundle Item Description QTY Estimated Start Date Estimated End Date
A la Carte 80374 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - BATTERY PACK 33 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
A la Carte 80395 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - HANDLE 28 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
A la Carte 80396 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - DOCK SIX BAY 1 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
A la Carte 80496 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - CAMERA 7 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
A la Carte 80498 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - EIGHT BAY DOCK 1 09/15/2024 11/14/2024
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100704 AXON TASER 10 - EXT WARRANTY - HANDLE 34 10/15/2025 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 100704 AXON TASER 10 - EXT WARRANTY - HANDLE 1 10/15/2025 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 80374 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - BATTERY PACK 34 10/15/2025 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 80374 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - BATTERY PACK 6 10/15/2025 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 80374 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - BATTERY PACK 1 10/15/2025 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 80396 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - DOCK SIX BAY 1 10/15/2025 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 80464 AXON BODY - TAP WARRANTY - CAMERA 34 10/15/2025 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 80464 AXON BODY - TAP WARRANTY - CAMERA 1 10/15/2025 11/14/2029
BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 80465 AXON BODY - TAP WARRANTY - MULTI BAY DOCK 5 10/15/2025 11/14/2029

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 82 -Item #8.



Page 6 Q-554203-45390.802DJ

Shipping Locations

Location Number Street City State Zip Country

1 78 Van Horne Ave Tybee Island GA 31328-9780 USA

2 78 Van Horne Ave Tybee Island GA 31328-9780 USA

Payment Details

Oct 2024
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 1 100610 AXON SIGNAL - INSTALLATION SERVICE - VIRTUAL 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 100801 AXON RECORDS - OSP LICENSE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 101208 AXON TASER 10 - 2 DAY INSTRUCTOR COURSE - INSIDE SALES 1 $500.00 $0.00 $500.00
Year 1 20246 AXON TASER 7 - REPLACEMENT ACCESS PROGRAM - DUTY CARTRIDGE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 20248 AXON TASER - EVIDENCE.COM LICENSE 30 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 73449 AXON RESPOND - LICENSE 35 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 73682 AXON EVIDENCE - AUTO TAGGING LICENSE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 73683 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - 10GB A LA CARTE 146 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 73686 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - UNLIMITED (AXON DEVICE) 7 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 73746 AXON EVIDENCE - ECOM LICENSE - PRO 9 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 80374 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - BATTERY PACK 33 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 80395 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - HANDLE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 80396 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - DOCK SIX BAY 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 80496 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - CAMERA 7 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 80498 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - EIGHT BAY DOCK 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 H00001 AB4 Camera Bundle 34 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 H00002 AB4 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 5 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 1 M00010 BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 34 $88,393.20 $0.00 $88,393.20
Invoice Upon Fulfillment 100553 TRANSFER CREDIT - SOFTWARE AND SERVICES 1 ($5,560.56) $0.00 ($5,560.56)
Total $83,332.64 $0.00 $83,332.64

Nov 2024
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Invoice Upon Fulfillment M00010 BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 34 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Total $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Oct 2025
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 2 100610 AXON SIGNAL - INSTALLATION SERVICE - VIRTUAL 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 100801 AXON RECORDS - OSP LICENSE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 101208 AXON TASER 10 - 2 DAY INSTRUCTOR COURSE - INSIDE SALES 1 $500.00 $0.00 $500.00
Year 2 20246 AXON TASER 7 - REPLACEMENT ACCESS PROGRAM - DUTY CARTRIDGE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 20248 AXON TASER - EVIDENCE.COM LICENSE 30 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 73449 AXON RESPOND - LICENSE 35 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 73682 AXON EVIDENCE - AUTO TAGGING LICENSE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 73683 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - 10GB A LA CARTE 146 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 73686 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - UNLIMITED (AXON DEVICE) 7 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 83 -Item #8.



Page 7 Q-554203-45390.802DJ

Oct 2025
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 2 73746 AXON EVIDENCE - ECOM LICENSE - PRO 9 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 80374 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - BATTERY PACK 33 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 80395 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - HANDLE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 80396 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - DOCK SIX BAY 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 80496 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - CAMERA 7 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 80498 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - EIGHT BAY DOCK 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 H00001 AB4 Camera Bundle 34 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 H00002 AB4 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 5 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 2 M00010 BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 34 $88,393.20 $0.00 $88,393.20
Total $88,893.20 $0.00 $88,893.20

Oct 2026
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 3 100610 AXON SIGNAL - INSTALLATION SERVICE - VIRTUAL 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 100801 AXON RECORDS - OSP LICENSE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 101208 AXON TASER 10 - 2 DAY INSTRUCTOR COURSE - INSIDE SALES 1 $500.00 $0.00 $500.00
Year 3 20246 AXON TASER 7 - REPLACEMENT ACCESS PROGRAM - DUTY CARTRIDGE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 20248 AXON TASER - EVIDENCE.COM LICENSE 30 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 73449 AXON RESPOND - LICENSE 35 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 73682 AXON EVIDENCE - AUTO TAGGING LICENSE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 73683 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - 10GB A LA CARTE 146 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 73686 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - UNLIMITED (AXON DEVICE) 7 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 73746 AXON EVIDENCE - ECOM LICENSE - PRO 9 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 80374 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - BATTERY PACK 33 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 80395 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - HANDLE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 80396 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - DOCK SIX BAY 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 80496 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - CAMERA 7 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 80498 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - EIGHT BAY DOCK 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 H00001 AB4 Camera Bundle 34 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 H00002 AB4 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 5 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 3 M00010 BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 34 $88,393.20 $0.00 $88,393.20
Total $88,893.20 $0.00 $88,893.20

Oct 2027
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 4 100610 AXON SIGNAL - INSTALLATION SERVICE - VIRTUAL 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 100801 AXON RECORDS - OSP LICENSE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 101208 AXON TASER 10 - 2 DAY INSTRUCTOR COURSE - INSIDE SALES 1 $500.00 $0.00 $500.00
Year 4 20246 AXON TASER 7 - REPLACEMENT ACCESS PROGRAM - DUTY CARTRIDGE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 20248 AXON TASER - EVIDENCE.COM LICENSE 30 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 73449 AXON RESPOND - LICENSE 35 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 73682 AXON EVIDENCE - AUTO TAGGING LICENSE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 73683 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - 10GB A LA CARTE 146 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 73686 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - UNLIMITED (AXON DEVICE) 7 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 73746 AXON EVIDENCE - ECOM LICENSE - PRO 9 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 80374 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - BATTERY PACK 33 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 80395 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - HANDLE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 80396 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - DOCK SIX BAY 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 80496 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - CAMERA 7 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 80498 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - EIGHT BAY DOCK 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 H00001 AB4 Camera Bundle 34 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 84 -Item #8.



Page 8 Q-554203-45390.802DJ

Oct 2027
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 4 H00002 AB4 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 5 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 4 M00010 BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 34 $88,393.20 $0.00 $88,393.20
Total $88,893.20 $0.00 $88,893.20

Oct 2028
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 5 100610 AXON SIGNAL - INSTALLATION SERVICE - VIRTUAL 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 100801 AXON RECORDS - OSP LICENSE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 101208 AXON TASER 10 - 2 DAY INSTRUCTOR COURSE - INSIDE SALES 1 $500.00 $0.00 $500.00
Year 5 20246 AXON TASER 7 - REPLACEMENT ACCESS PROGRAM - DUTY CARTRIDGE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 20248 AXON TASER - EVIDENCE.COM LICENSE 30 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 73449 AXON RESPOND - LICENSE 35 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 73682 AXON EVIDENCE - AUTO TAGGING LICENSE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 73683 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - 10GB A LA CARTE 146 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 73686 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - UNLIMITED (AXON DEVICE) 7 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 73746 AXON EVIDENCE - ECOM LICENSE - PRO 9 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 80374 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - BATTERY PACK 33 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 80395 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - HANDLE 28 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 80396 AXON TASER 7 - EXT WARRANTY - DOCK SIX BAY 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 80496 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - CAMERA 7 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 80498 AXON BODY 3 - EXT WARRANTY - EIGHT BAY DOCK 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 H00001 AB4 Camera Bundle 34 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 H00002 AB4 Multi Bay Dock Bundle 5 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Year 5 M00010 BUNDLE - OFFICER SAFETY PLAN 10 34 $88,393.20 $0.00 $88,393.20
Total $88,893.20 $0.00 $88,893.20

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 85 -Item #8.



Page 9 Q-554203-45390.802DJ

Tax is estimated based on rates applicable at date of quote and subject to change at time of invoicing. If a tax exemption certificate should be applied, please submit 
prior to invoicing. 

Standard Terms and Conditions

Axon Enterprise Inc. Sales Terms and Conditions

Axon Master Services and Purchasing Agreement:

 ACEIP:

This Quote is limited to and conditional upon your acceptance of the provisions set forth herein and the Master Services and Purchasing Agreement by
and between Axon Enterprise, Inc. and the Tybee Island Police Department, dated August 15, 2022 (the “Agreement"), as well as the attached Statement
of Work (SOW) for Axon Fleet and/or Axon Interview Room purchase, if applicable, to the extent it includes the products and services being purchased and
does not conflict with the Axon Customer Experience Improvement Program Appendix as described below.

The Axon Customer Experience Improvement Program Appendix, which includes the sharing of de-identified segments of Agency Content with Axon to 
develop new products and improve your product experience (posted at www.axon.com/legal/sales-terms-and-conditions), is incorporated herein by 
reference. By signing below, you agree to the terms of the Axon Customer Experience Improvement Program.

Acceptance of Terms:

Any purchase order issued in response to this Quote is subject solely to the above referenced terms and conditions. By signing below, you represent that you 
are lawfully able to enter into contracts. If you are signing on behalf of an entity (including but not limited to the company, municipality, or government agency 
for whom you work), you represent to Axon that you have legal authority to bind that entity. If you do not have this authority, please do not sign this Quote.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 86 -Item #8.



Page 10 Q-554203-45390.802DJ

Exceptions to Standard Terms and Conditions

Agency has existing Quote:

Q-231551

Agency is terminating this contract effective 09/15/2024. Any change in this date will result in modification of the program value which may result in additional fees or 
credits due to or from Axon.

The parties agree that Axon is applying a Net Transfer Credit of ($5,560.56) to the quote for paid but undelivered items.

100% discounted body-worn camera and docking station hardware contained in this quote reflects a TAP replacement for hardware purchased under existing quote 
# Q-231551. All TAP obligations from this contract will be considered fulfilled upon execution of this quote.

\s1\ \d1\
 Signature Date Signed

4/8/2024

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 87 -Item #8.



Page 11 Q-554203-45390.802DJ

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 88 -Item #8.



Page 1 Q-557708-45366.821DJ

Q-557708-45366.821DJ

Issued: 03/15/2024

Quote Expiration: 06/12/2024

Estimated Contract Start Date: 08/01/2024

Account Number: 467617
Payment Terms: N30

Delivery Method: 

SHIP TO BILL TO SALES REPRESENTATIVE PRIMARY CONTACT

Tybee Island Police Dept. - GA
78 Van Horne Ave
Tybee Island,
GA
31328-9780
USA

 
Tybee Island Police Dept. - GA
PO Box 2749
Tybee Island
GA
31328-2749
USA 
Email: 

Becky Berger
Phone: 

Email: rberger@axon.com
Fax: 

Bertram Whitley
Phone: (912) 786-5600

Email: bwhitley@cityoftybee.org
Fax: 

Quote Summary Discount Summary

Program Length 47 Months Average Savings Per Year $7,287.12

TOTAL COST $78,777.36
ESTIMATED TOTAL W/ TAX $78,777.36 TOTAL SAVINGS $28,541.22

 

Axon Enterprise, Inc.
17800 N 85th St.
Scottsdale, Arizona 85255
United States
VAT: 86-0741227
Domestic: (800) 978-2737
International: +1.800.978.2737

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 89 -Item #8.



Page 2 Q-557708-45366.821DJ

Payment Summary 
Date Subtotal Tax Total
Jul 2024 $19,694.34 $0.00 $19,694.34
Jun 2025 $19,694.34 $0.00 $19,694.34
Jun 2026 $19,694.34 $0.00 $19,694.34
Jun 2027 $19,694.34 $0.00 $19,694.34
Total $78,777.36 $0.00 $78,777.36

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 90 -Item #8.



Page 3 Q-557708-45366.821DJ

Quote Unbundled Price: $107,318.58
Quote List Price: $78,777.36
Quote Subtotal: $78,777.36

Pricing

All deliverables are detailed in Delivery Schedules section lower in proposal
Item Description Qty Term Unbundled  List Price Net Price Subtotal Tax Total
Program
80462 TRUE UP - FLEET 3 ADVANCED WITH TAP 6 13 $108.00 $108.00 $8,424.00 $0.00 $8,424.00
Fleet3A Fleet 3 Advanced 6 47 $350.69 $249.48 $249.48 $70,353.36 $0.00 $70,353.36
Total $78,777.36 $0.00 $78,777.36

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 91 -Item #8.



Page 4 Q-557708-45366.821DJ

Delivery Schedule

Hardware 

Bundle Item Description QTY Shipping Location Estimated Delivery 
Date

Fleet 3 Advanced 11634 AXON FLEET - CRADLEPOINT IBR900-1200M-B-NPS+5YR NETCLOUD 6 1 07/01/2024
Fleet 3 Advanced 70112 AXON SIGNAL - SIGNAL UNIT 6 1 07/01/2024
Fleet 3 Advanced 71200 AXON FLEET - AIRGAIN ANT - 5-IN-1 2LTE 2WIFI 1GNSS BL 6 1 07/01/2024
Fleet 3 Advanced 72034 AXON FLEET 3 - SIM INSERTION - VZW 6 1 07/01/2024
Fleet 3 Advanced 72036 AXON FLEET 3 - STANDARD 2 CAMERA KIT 6 1 07/01/2024
Fleet 3 Advanced 72040 AXON FLEET - TAP REFRESH 1 - 2 CAMERA KIT 6 1 04/01/2028

Software 
Bundle Item Description QTY Estimated Start Date Estimated End Date
Fleet 3 Advanced 80400 AXON EVIDENCE - FLEET VEHICLE LICENSE 6 08/01/2024 06/30/2028
Fleet 3 Advanced 80401 AXON FLEET 3 - ALPR LICENSE - 1 CAMERA 6 08/01/2024 06/30/2028
Fleet 3 Advanced 80402 AXON RESPOND - LICENSE - FLEET 3 6 08/01/2024 06/30/2028
Fleet 3 Advanced 80410 AXON EVIDENCE - STORAGE - FLEET 1 CAMERA UNLIMITED 12 08/01/2024 06/30/2028

Services 
Bundle Item Description QTY
Fleet 3 Advanced 73391 AXON FLEET 3 - DEPLOYMENT (PER VEHICLE) 6

Warranties 
Bundle Item Description QTY Estimated Start Date Estimated End Date
Fleet 3 Advanced 80379 AXON SIGNAL - EXT WARRANTY - SIGNAL UNIT 6 07/01/2025 06/30/2028
Fleet 3 Advanced 80495 AXON FLEET 3 - EXT WARRANTY - 2 CAMERA KIT 6 07/01/2025 06/30/2028

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 92 -Item #8.



Page 5 Q-557708-45366.821DJ

Shipping Locations

Location Number Street City State Zip Country

1 78 Van Horne Ave Tybee Island GA 31328-9780 USA

Payment Details

Jul 2024
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Co-term 80462 TRUE UP - FLEET 3 ADVANCED WITH TAP 6 $2,106.00 $0.00 $2,106.00
Co-term Fleet3A Fleet 3 Advanced 6 $17,588.34 $0.00 $17,588.34
Total $19,694.34 $0.00 $19,694.34

Jun 2025
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 3 80462 TRUE UP - FLEET 3 ADVANCED WITH TAP 6 $2,106.00 $0.00 $2,106.00
Year 3 Fleet3A Fleet 3 Advanced 6 $17,588.34 $0.00 $17,588.34
Total $19,694.34 $0.00 $19,694.34

Jun 2026
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 4 80462 TRUE UP - FLEET 3 ADVANCED WITH TAP 6 $2,106.00 $0.00 $2,106.00
Year 4 Fleet3A Fleet 3 Advanced 6 $17,588.34 $0.00 $17,588.34
Total $19,694.34 $0.00 $19,694.34

Jun 2027
Invoice Plan Item Description Qty Subtotal Tax Total
Year 5 80462 TRUE UP - FLEET 3 ADVANCED WITH TAP 6 $2,106.00 $0.00 $2,106.00
Year 5 Fleet3A Fleet 3 Advanced 6 $17,588.34 $0.00 $17,588.34
Total $19,694.34 $0.00 $19,694.34

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 93 -Item #8.



Page 6 Q-557708-45366.821DJ

Tax is estimated based on rates applicable at date of quote and subject to change at time of invoicing. If a tax exemption certificate should be applied, please submit 
prior to invoicing. 

Standard Terms and Conditions

Axon Enterprise Inc. Sales Terms and Conditions

Axon Master Services and Purchasing Agreement:

 ACEIP:

This Quote is limited to and conditional upon your acceptance of the provisions set forth herein and the Master Services and Purchasing Agreement by 
and between Axon Enterprise, Inc. and the Tybee Island Police Department, dated August 15, 2022 (the “Agreement"), as well as the attached Statement 
of Work (SOW) for Axon Fleet and/or Axon Interview Room purchase, if applicable, to the extent it includes the products and services being purchased and 
does not conflict with the Axon Customer Experience Improvement Program Appendix as described below.

The Axon Customer Experience Improvement Program Appendix, which includes the sharing of de-identified segments of Agency Content with Axon to 
develop new products and improve your product experience (posted at www.axon.com/legal/sales-terms-and-conditions), is incorporated herein by 
reference. By signing below, you agree to the terms of the Axon Customer Experience Improvement Program.

Acceptance of Terms:

Any purchase order issued in response to this Quote is subject solely to the above referenced terms and conditions. By signing below, you represent that you 
are lawfully able to enter into contracts. If you are signing on behalf of an entity (including but not limited to the company, municipality, or government agency 
for whom you work), you represent to Axon that you have legal authority to bind that entity. If you do not have this authority, please do not sign this Quote.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 94 -Item #8.



Page 7 Q-557708-45366.821DJ

\s1\ \d1\
 Signature Date Signed

3/15/2024

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 95 -Item #8.



1

FLEET STATEMENT OF WORK BETWEEN AXON ENTERPRISE AND AGENCY

Introduction
This Statement of Work (“SOW”) has been made and entered into by and between Axon Enterprise, Inc. (“AXON”), and Tybee Island Police Dept. (GA) 
(“AGENCY”) for the purchase of the Axon Fleet in-car video solution (“FLEET”) and its supporting information, services and training.  (AXON Technical Project 
Manager/The AXON installer)

Purpose and Intent 

AGENCY states, and AXON understands and agrees, that Agency’s purpose and intent for entering into this SOW is for the AGENCY to obtain from AXON 
deliverables, which used solely in conjunction with AGENCY’s existing systems and equipment, which AGENCY specifically agrees to purchase or provide 
pursuant to the terms of this SOW.

This SOW contains the entire agreement between the parties.  There are no promises, agreements, conditions, inducements, warranties or understandings, 
written or oral, expressed or implied, between the parties, other than as set forth or referenced in the SOW. 

Acceptance 

Upon completion of the services outlined in this SOW, AGENCY will be provided a professional services acceptance form (“Acceptance Form”). AGENCY will 
sign the Acceptance Form acknowledging that services have been completed in substantial conformance with this SOW and the Agreement. If AGENCY 
reasonably believes AXON did not complete the professional services in conformance with this SOW, AGENCY must notify AXON in writing of the specific 
reasons within seven (7) calendar days from delivery of the Acceptance Form. AXON will remedy the issues to conform with this SOW and re-present the 
Acceptance Form for signature. If AXON does not receive the signed Acceptance Form or written notification of the reasons for rejection within 7 calendar days of 
the delivery of the Acceptance Form, AGENCY will be deemed to have accepted the services in accordance to this SOW. 

Force Majeure

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 96 -Item #8.



2

Neither party hereto shall be liable for delays or failure to perform with respect to this SOW due to causes beyond the party’s reasonable control and not avoidable 
by diligence.   

Schedule Change

Each party shall notify the other as soon as possible regarding any changes to agreed upon dates and times of Axon Fleet in-car Solution installation to be 
performed pursuant of this Statement of Work. 

Axon Fleet Deliverables

Typically, within (30) days of receiving this fully executed SOW, an AXON Technical Project Manager will deliver to AGENCY’s primary point of contact via 
electronic media, controlled documentation, guides, instructions and videos followed by available dates for the initial project review and customer readiness 
validation. Unless otherwise agreed upon by AXON, AGENCY may print and reproduce said documents for use by its employees only. 

Security Clearance and Access

Upon AGENCY’s request, AXON will provide the AGENCY a list of AXON employees, agents, installers or representatives which require access to the AGENCY’s 
facilities in order to perform Work pursuant of this Statement of Work.  AXON will ensure that each employee, agent or representative has been informed or and 
consented to a criminal background investigation by AGENCY for the purposes of being allowed access to AGENCY‘s facilities.  AGENCY is responsible for 
providing AXON with all required instructions and documentation accompanying the security background check’s requirements.  

Training 

AXON will provide training applicable to Axon Evidence, Cradlepoint NetCloud Manager and Axon Fleet  application in a train-the-trainer style method unless 
otherwise agreed upon between the AGENCY and AXON.

Local Computer

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 97 -Item #8.



3

AGNECY is responsible for providing a mobile data computer (MDC) with the same software, hardware, and configuration that AGENCY personnel will use with 
the AXON system being installed. AGENCY is responsible for making certain that any and all security settings (port openings, firewall settings, antivirus software, 
virtual private network, routing, etc.) are made prior to the installation, configuration and testing of the aforementioned deliverables.  

Network 

AGENCY is responsible for making certain that any and all network(s) route traffic to appropriate endpoints and AXON is not liable for network breach, data 
interception, or loss of data due to misconfigured firewall settings or virus infection, except to the extent that such virus or infection is caused, in whole or in part, 
by defects in the deliverables.  

Cradlepoint Router

When applicable, AGENCY must provide AXON Installers with temporary administrative access to Cradlepoint’s NetCloud Manager to the extent necessary to 
perform Work pursuant of this Statement of Work.  

Evidence.com

AGENCY must provide AXON Installers with temporary administrative access to Axon Evidence.com to the extent necessary to perform Work pursuant of this 
SOW.

Wireless Upload System

If purchased by the AGENCY, on such dates and times mutually agreed upon by the parties, AXON will install and configure into AGENCY’s existing network a 
wireless network infrastructure as identified in the AGENCY’s binding quote based on conditions of the sale.  

VEHICLE INSTALLATION

Preparedness

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 98 -Item #8.

https://accounts.cradlepointecm.com/
http://evidence.com/


4

On such dates and times mutually agreed upon by the parties, the AGENCY will deliver all vehicles to an AXON Installer less weapons and items of evidence. 
Vehicle(s) will be deemed ‘out of service’ to the extent necessary to perform Work pursuant of this SOW.  

Existing Mobile Video Camera System Removal

On such dates and times mutually agreed upon by the parties, the AGENCY will deliver all vehicles to an AXON Installer which will remove from said vehicles all 
components of the existing mobile video camera system unless otherwise agreed upon by the AGENCY.

Major components will be salvaged by the AXON Installer for auction by the AGENCY.  Wires and cables are not considered expendable and will not be 
salvaged.  Salvaged components will be placed in a designated area by the AGENCY within close proximity of the vehicle in an accessible work space. 

Prior to removing the existing mobile video camera systems, it is both the responsibility of the AGENCY and the AXON Installer to test the vehicle’s systems’ 
operation to identify and operate, documenting any existing component or system failures and in detail, identify which components of the existing mobile video 
camera system will be removed by the AXON Installer.    

In-Car Hardware/Software Delivery and Installation 

On such dates and times mutually agreed upon by the parties, the AGENCY will deliver all vehicles to an AXON Installer, who will install and configure in each 
vehicle in accordance with the specifications detailed in the system’s installation manual and its relevant addendum(s).  Applicable in-car hardware will be installed 
and configured as defined and validated by the AGENCY during the pre-deployment discovery process. 

If a specified vehicle is unavailable on the date and time agreed upon by the parties, AGENCY will provide a similar vehicle for the installation process. Delays due 
to a vehicle, or substitute vehicle, not being available at agreed upon dates and times may results in additional fees to the AGENCY.  If the AXON Installer 
determines that a vehicle is not properly prepared for installation (“Not Fleet Ready”), such as a battery not being properly charged or properly up-fit for in-service, 
field operations, the issue shall be reported immediately to the AGENCY for resolution and a date and time for the future installation shall be agreed upon by the 
parties.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 99 -Item #8.



5

Upon completion of installation and configuration, AXON will systematically test all installed and configured in-car hardware and software to ensure that ALL 
functions of the hardware and software are fully operational and that any deficiencies are corrected unless otherwise agreed upon by the AGENCY, installation, 
configuration, test and the correct of any deficiencies will be completed in each vehicle accepted for installation.

Prior to installing the Axon Fleet camera systems, it is both the responsibility of the AGENCY and the AXON Installer to test the vehicle’s existing systems’ 
operation to identify, document any existing component or vehicle systems’ failures. Prior to any vehicle up-fitting the AXON Installer will introduce the system’s 
components, basic functions, integrations and systems overview along with reference to AXON approved, AGENCY manuals, guides, portals and videos.  It is 
both the responsibility of the AGENCY and the AXON Installer to agree on placement of each components, the antenna(s), integration recording trigger sources 
and customer preferred power, ground and ignition sources prior to permanent or temporary installation of an Axon Fleet camera solution in each vehicle type.  
Agreed placement will be documented by the AXON Installer. 

AXON welcomes up to 5 persons per system operation training session per day, and unless otherwise agreed upon by the AGENCY, the first vehicle will be used 
for an installation training demonstration.  The second vehicle will be used for an assisted installation training demonstration.  The installation training session is 
customary to any AXON Fleet installation service regardless of who performs the continued Axon Fleet system installations.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 100 -Item #8.



6

The customary training session does not ‘certify’ a non-AXON Installer, customer-employed Installer or customer 3rd party Installer, since the AXON Fleet 
products does not offer an Installer certification program.  Any work performed by non-AXON Installer, customer-employed Installer or customer 3rd party Installer 
is not warrantied by AXON, and AXON is not liable for any damage to the vehicle and its existing systems and AXON Fleet hardware. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 101 -Item #8.



 

572.572.000.Forms - Contract Addendum 

 

CONTRACT ADDENDUM 

FOR CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

AND AXON ENTERPRISE, INC. 

 Notwithstanding any other provision of the agreement and/or any other addendum to the 

agreement, the parties agree that the provisions of the contract attached hereto are modified, cancelled or 

removed to the extent inconsistent with the provisions of this addendum: 

 

1. In all instances the provisions of O.C.G.A. 36-60-13 shall control such that any obligation on the 

part of the City shall cease without condition in the absence of renewal at the end of the fiscal 

year or calendar year as applicable. 

2. The contract is limited to a twelve-month term subject to automatic renewals. 

3. There is no obligation on the part of the City to indemnify any other party, including any other 

contracted party, as such provisions are not valid under Georgia law.  

4. The provisions and performances under this agreement and addendum shall be governed by the 

laws of the State of Georgia and any applicable federal law.  Any and all disputes which might 

arise under the terms of the agreement, the addendum or the transaction between the parties shall 

be resolved in the states and federal courts located within Chatham County in the State of 

Georgia, including, but not limited to, the US District Court for the Southern District of Georgia, 

Savannah Division. 

5. The City of Tybee Island does not waive the right to trial by jury on any dispute. 

6. The City does not authorize the use of its name or logo in any contracting party’s marketing or 

promotional activities in the absence of a specific authorization following the contracting party’s 

making such promotional or marketing activities known and available to the City. The City shall 

have 10 days following the receipt of such information or material within which to approve or 

disapprove the use of its name or logo and the failure to the City to respond that such promotional 

or marketing is permissible, it shall be deemed a rejection and the use shall not be permitted. 

7. For any insurance requirement imposed upon the City, the City may satisfy its obligations by 

having coverage with the Georgia Interlocal Risk Management Program. 

 

AXON ENTERPRISE, INC. 

 

 

By:________________________________ 

 

___________________________________ 

Printed Name 

 

_______________ ________________ 

Title    Date 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 

 

By:___________________________________ 

 

 

_____________ 

Date 

 

 

Attest:________________________________ 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

Deputy General Counsel

Robert E. Driscoll, Jr.

5/2/2024 | 11:20 AM MST

- Page 102 -Item #8.



 

572.572.000.Forms - Contract Addendum 

 
4877-8016-6700.1 

 

 

 

 

            

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0FEFA9AD-48CB-4C76-B44A-ED96D2A88BC3

- Page 103 -Item #8.



File Attachments for Item:

10. Minutes:  Planning Commission, April 15, 2024

- Page 104 -



 

 

  
 
PLANNING COMMISSION                          ACTING CITY MANAGER  
Anna Butler                                        Michelle Owens 
Beau Livingston 
Robert J. Matkowski 
Elaine McGruder                                                                                                          COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 
S. Michelle Nooney             George Shaw  
David Roberts          
Marie Rodriguez                                         CITY ATTORNEY        

                                         Edward M. Hughes
                                         Tracy O’Connell                                                                   

 
Planning Commission Meeting 

 MINUTES  
April 15, 2024 

 
Vice Chair Michelle Nooney called the April 15, 2024, Tybee Island Planning Commission meeting 
to order. Commissioners present were Anna Butler, Marie Rodriguez, Beau Livingston, David 
Roberts, Robert Matkowski and Michelle Nooney. Elaine McGruder was absent. 
 
Consideration of Minutes: 
Vice Chair Michelle Nooney asked for consideration of the March 18, 2024, meeting minutes. 
Marie Rodriguez made a motion to approve. Robert Matkowski seconded. The vote to approve 
was unanimous. 
 
Disclosures/Recusals: 
Vice Chair Michelle Nooney asked if there were any Disclosures or Recusals. There were none. 
 
Old Business: 
Vice Chair Michelle Nooney asked if there was any old business. There was one. 
 
New Business: 
Site Plan: requesting to add roof to existing deck – 33 Meddin Dr. – 4001 13008 -Zone R-
1/NEC – North Beach Bar & Grill/George Spriggs. 
Walter Hattrich stated that the applicant would like to build a roof over the existing deck on the 
south side of the building. He stated it is a pole barn type construction which is consistent with the 
roof on the east side of the building that was previously constructed. It is in character with the 
remainder of the building. Staff recommends approval. Robert Matkowski stated it talked about the 
status of the project designer addressing the continued high moisture content beneath the area in 
depth. Walter Hattrich stated that he did speak to the drainage engineer that supplied the drainage 
letter and he stated the drainage run off for that side of the building currently goes on the existing 
wood deck, and that would be captured by a gutter system and down pipe that will then go into a 
planter. The water will be going to the same place it was previously. David Roberts stated he does 
not see any setbacks on this survey, and it looks like we would be enlarging the encroachment by 
allowing this roof. Walter Hattrich stated the City owns all of this property where you see the blue 
lines in the photo and there are no setbacks near this property’s lines. George Spriggs, the applicant, 
approached the Planning Commission and stated that this proposal will be the same type of roof, work, 
and contractor as the roof that was added to the east side in 2019. Anna Butler asked if a structural 
engineer has reviewed these plans to make sure they conform to the codes for our high velocity winds 
area here? Walter Hattrich stated that all the plans do indicate they were reviewed by a professional 
engineer. Anna Butler stated yes, but there is no stamp from him on them. David Roberts stated 
following up on that I would add if there’s a caveat and a request to come back that it would come back 

 

- Page 105 -Item #10.



 

 

with an accurate site plan showing where the roof is going relative to the site. Also, I realize this is a 
plat map but it’s not even for this project necessarily, and I agree there are other things besides which 
neighbor is impacted by a setback. It could be a wooden structure next to another building that you 
would have to have a certain amount of horizonal distance from the international building code 
requirements. Beau Livingston stated that I just want to clarify something. If you could go back to 
the overhead view of the property. The blue lines around the property represent the property lines, 
correct? Walter Hattrich stated yes that is correct. Beau Livingston stated so the setbacks would 
be off of those blue lines and this project would not be anywhere close to those lot lines, correct? He 
stated this roof would not impede any sidewalks, roadways or the showers and restrooms. Walter 
Hattrich stated that is my understanding, yes.  
Beau Livingston made a motion to approve. Marie Rodriguez seconded. Anna Butler, Marie 
Rodriguez, Beau Livingston, and Robert Matkowski voted for the approval. David Roberts 
voted against the approval. The vote was 4 to 1. The motion was approved.  
 
 
Text amendment: STR Proposed Ordinance – City of Tybee. 
Acting City Manager Michelle Owens stated this is a proposed text amendment to the land 
development code and essentially this is going to be chapter 4 – sec. 4-050-1 the proposed text 
amendment states in residential districts this ordinance will prohibit the transfer of short-term rental 
permits upon a sale. And lays out the process by which that particular instance of property transfers 
for permits will be audited for compliance and determine the status of that permit. There will also be a 
hearing process by which property owners can appeal a decision of termination. City council has sent 
this to planning commission for a recommendation. Marie Rodriguez asked if this was only for R-1, R-
1-B and R-2 only. Acting City Manager Michelle Owens stated yes that is correct. Vice Chair 
Michelle Nooney asked if other methods to reduce STRs in the residential zones, such as enforcing 
the existing ordinances and revoking permits for those in violation have been considered. She also 
asked has anyone looked at how the 748 commercial and R-T STR’s support the number of tourists 
that visit Tybee. Acting City Manager Michelle Owens stated that has not been looked at. David 
Roberts asked when the renewals took place this year did staff review the history to make sure they 
have satisfied the ongoing and existing requirement that was placed in October of 2022. Acting City 
Manager Michelle Owens stated the STR coordinator did do some level of reviews, and some went 
through the normal audit process. (This question was corrected after the meeting. The correct answer 
is no). 
Keith Gay, who lives at 117 Catalina Dr. Stated he wanted to clarification to the question about the 
audit and the applications. The applications had been put on hold until the first of this month. So 
many of us are just now getting our applications in. so there will be no practical way to do any kind of 
audit on the registrations. Dale Williams spoke for the ordinance. Roger Huff spoke against the 
ordinance, Dee Matkowski spoke for the ordinance. Keith Gay spoke against the ordinance. Dawn 
Shay spoke for the ordinance. Carol Nathan spoke for the ordinance. Ron Rimawi spoke against 
the ordinance. Todd Norman spoke against the ordinance. Shirley Wright spoke for the 
ordinance. Jenny Rutherford spoke against the ordinance. Tommy Thompson spoke against the 
ordinance. Beau Livingston stated he would like to see a clause that would keep people from losing 
their property that have been in the family for generations. David Roberts stated he wants to make it 
clear on the amount of thought and sincerity people have put on both side of this issue. He quoted this 
attachment.   
“April 15, 2024  
Before the Planning Commission, City of Tybee Island  
In the matter of Planning Commission review of the proposed ordinance (_ 2024) that would 
terminate short-term rental ("STR") permits upon the sale or other specific disposition of properties 
in residential zoning districts R-1, R-1-B, and R-2-and that would preclude further or future 
assignment, transfer, or renewal of STR permits for those locations. 

- Page 106 -Item #10.



 

 

City Council has already enacted ordinances (Ord. 2022-04 and 2023-11 § 1) recognizing that 
STR' s in residential zoning districts are, in fact, nonconforming uses. Therefore, Planning 
Commission's consideration of the proposed ordinance must be guided by these ten principles: 

1. No quiet, peaceful, and entirely residential neighborhood will ever be a detriment to 
Tybee Island; 

2. The proposed ordinance must not be judged based on conjecture. Although some voices 
have warned of the near-collapse of Tybee's economy if Council passes the proposed 
ordinance, not one person (of whom I am aware) has offered a single, specific example 
of a coastal island that has been abandoned or financially ruined by its elimination of 
STR' s in favor of long-term rentals and/ or legitimate hotels; 

3. There is simply no Constitutional right to conduct commerce within residential zoning 
districts in Georgia -a fact established by both the Georgia and U.S. Supreme Courts 
nearly 100 years ago;! 

4. If additional STR's outside of commercial zoning districts are deemed desirable by the 
City, the City should create more conscientiously and purposefully designed zoning 
districts and district boundaries to allow them-rather than merely contorting the 
definitions of "use" of properties within existing residentially zoned districts; 

5. It is legally incoherent to argue that the City must permit nonconforming STR 
commerce to be conducted in residential zoning districts because STR' s are a source of 
tax revenues for the City-while simultaneously contending that the same city is 
somehow forbidden by law or policy from registering or listing the structures in which 
those nonconforming tax-revenue-generating commercial activities occur; 

6. It is inconsistent to argue that the City must permit nonconforming SIR commerce to be 
conducted in residential zoning districts because SIR' s are a source of tax revenues for 
the City-when City Administration is admittedly incapable of determining the exact 
sources and amounts of those alleged revenues -and is seemingly uninterested in 
ascertaining them;  

7. The unlawful perpetuation of the inequities suffered by owners of conforming 
properties in residential zoning districts due to the City's failme to provide equal 
protection of the laws 
(guaranteed under the 14th Amendment of U.S. Constitution and Art. I, § 1, ,i II of the 
1983 Georgia Constitution) can only be corrected if the City brings to an end over time 
all nonconforming commercial rental activities in those residentially zoned districts; 

8. It is unjust for future purchasers of presently nonconforming STR properties in 
residential districts to possess STR rights superior to those that are entirely prohibited 
to current and future owners of conforming properties in those same districts; 

 
See Village of Euclid, Ohio v. Ambler Realty Co., 272 U.S. 365, (U.S. Supreme Court, 
1926); and Howden v. Mayor and Aldermen of Savannah, 172 Ga. 833 (Supreme Court 
of Ga. 1931). 
 

9. Although the City is entitled by law to correct the current unequal application and 
protection of the laws by abruptly terminating nonconforming STR use in residential 
zoning districts,£ City Council has, instead, proposed an ordinance that gradually (i.e., 
over decades of transition) brings all residential properties into parity and 
conformance - allowing those who presently operate STR' sunder lawfully issued STR 
permits3 to continue to operate them as long as they continue to: (a) own the subject 
properties; and (b) adhere to Tybee's ordinances governing their operation as STR's; 
and 

10. Among the strongest factors favoring passage of the proposed ordinance is that it 
begins, albeit incrementally, to counter the effect of the disregard shown to-date by the 
City's administration toward: (a) ordinances already passed by City Council; and (b) 
the rights of owners of conforming residential properties, who suffer from the City's: - Page 107 -Item #10.



 

 

a. Refusal to insist (before issuing or renewing STR permits) that STR owners meet 
their initial burden under law of showing that their STR' s are valid in the first 
place; 

b. Refusal to enforce capacity limits set out in the LDC for structures in one and 
two-family residential zoning districts; 

c. Refusal to apply enforcement remedies set out in the LDC against those who 
advertise for more STR guests than their property's STR permit allows (LDC§ 4-
051.9(b)); 

d. Refusal to enforce Tybee' s island-wide parking regulations when it comes to 
right-of-way parking for STR properties west of Butler; and 

e. Willingness to impose on neighbors of offending STR' s the burden of calling 
police to control violations of noise and STR-related ordinances-rather than the 
City's more-appropriate scheduling of patrols by Code Enforcement officers to 
control those violations (particularly violations that occur in hours in which 
noise is most jarring). 

 
Of course, all of these problems, when combined, unfairly diminish the quality of life for law-

abiding citizens who happen to own conforming residential properties adjacent to or near 
nonconforming (often noisy and over-packed) STR properties-particularly those properties that are 
not entitled to STR permits in the first place.  

Consequently, because the proposed ordinance prevents no person who presently and lawfully 
operates an STR in a residential zoning district from continuing otherwise-valid and ongoing STR 
rentals - and because the proposed ordinance is narrowly crafted to avoid continuing the City's 
unlawful, unequal enforcement and protection of our laws as presently applied-I support its 
passage.  

Therefore, it is my opinion that, pursuant to its authority under LDC§ 11-110-and if the typo 
in§ 2 of the proposed ordinance is corrected from "40501.11" to read" 4-051.11" -the Planning 
Commission should favorably commend the proposed ordinance to City Council for passage. 
   David A. Roberts, Member  

Tybee Island Planning Commission 
 
See BBC Land & Development, Inc. v. Butts County, 281 Ga. 472,473 (2007) ("a governing authority 
can require a nonconforming use to be terminated in a reasonable time.").  
 
See BBC Land, 281 Ga. at 473 ("a use which is merely contemplated for the future but is unrealized as 
of the effective date of the regulation [in this case October 13, 2022] does not constitute a 
nonconforming use."). Those properties should be forced to cease STR activities immediately.” 
 
David Roberts made a motion to approve with the correction of the typo. Robert Matkowski 
seconded. Marie Rodriguez abstained from voting, which counts as an affirmative vote. Anna 
Butler, David Roberts, and Robert Matkowski voted for the approval. Beau Livingston voted 
against the approval. The vote was 4 to 1. The motion was approved. 
 
Vice Chair Michelle Nooney stated that the Planning Commission needs to consider time limits for 
public speaking and publishing those limits. She would like this on the next agenda to discuss. 
 
 
 
 
Adjournment: 8:30pm 
Lisa L. Schaaf 
 
 - Page 108 -Item #10.


	Top
	Item #1.	Minutes:  April 25, 2024 with attachments
	20240425Minutes
	0047_001

	Item #2.	Jim Klutz:  FY 2025 Budget
	Item #3.	Site Plan Approval for the addition of a roof structure over an existing wood deck on the south side of the building
	1- 33 MEDDIN

	Item #4.	First Reading:  2024-08  to Amend the Code of Ordinances so as to address the Expiration of Short Term Rental Permits in Connection with Transfers of Ownership Interests
	TI STR final (truly)

	Item #5.	Agreement:  METRIC Group Limited and City of Tybee Island
	Tybee Port Agreements

	Item #6.	Memorandum of Agreement:  Visit Tybee and City of Tybee Island:  Info Hut
	0046_001

	Item #7.	Indigent Defense Services Agreement:  Jennifer Ozer and City of Tybee Island
	Indigent Services Agreement with Ozer 2024

	Item #8.	First Amendment to the Master Services and Purchasing Agreement:  AXON
	Amendment 1 Signed- Tybee Island PD (GA) - DRAFT, R2 - 2 Quotes + Addendum Added In

	Item #9.	Bubba Hughes:  TMSC Update on Solar Panels
	Item #10.	Minutes:  Planning Commission, April 15, 2024
	PC MINUTES-APR 15 2024

	Bottom



